
 
 

West Oxfordshire District Council, Council Offices, Woodgreen, Witney, OX28 1NB 
www.westoxon.gov.uk Tel: 01993 861000 

 

 

 

Friday, 24 March 2023 

 

Tel: 01993 861522 

e-mail - democratic.services@westoxon.gov.uk 

 

UPLANDS AREA PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

You are summoned to a meeting of the Uplands Area Planning Sub-Committee which will be held 

in the Council Chamber, Woodgreen, Witney OX28 1NB on Monday, 3 April 2023 at 2.00 pm. 

 

 
Giles Hughes 

Chief Executive 

 

 

To: Members of the Uplands Area Planning Sub-Committee 
 

Councillors: Elizabeth Poskitt (Chair), Rizvana Poole (Vice-Chair), Alaa Al-Yousuf, Lidia 

Arciszewska, Hugo Ashton, Andrew Beaney, Mike Cahill, Jeff Haine, David Jackson, 

Geoff Saul, Dean Temple and Alex Wilson 

 

Recording of Proceedings – The law allows the public proceedings of Council, Executive, and 

Committee Meetings to be recorded, which includes filming as well as audio-recording.  

Photography is also permitted. By participating in this meeting, you are consenting to be filmed. 

 

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record any part of the proceedings please let the 

Democratic Services officers know prior to the start of the meeting. 

 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/


 

 

 

AGENDA 
 

1.   Minutes of Previous Meeting (Pages 3 - 8) 

To approve the minutes of the meeting held on Monday 6 March 2023.  

 

2.   Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  

 

3.   Declarations of Interest  

To receive any declarations from Members of the Committee on any items to be 

considered at the meeting 

 

4.   Applications for Development (Pages 9 - 42) 

Purpose: 

To consider applications for development, details of which are set out in the attached 

schedule. 

 

Recommendation: 
That the applications be determined in accordance with the recommendations of the 

Business Manager – Development Management. 

 

Page  Application No. Address Planning 

Officer 

11-16 22/02785/HHD Cartref  21 Witney Street, 

Burford 

 

Sarah 

Hegerty 

 

17-22 22/02786/LBC Cartref  21 Witney Street, 

Burford  

 

Sarah 

Hegerty 

 

23-42 22/02947/OUT Land East Of Worton 

Road, Middle Barton  

 

Stephanie 

Eldridge 

 

 

 

 

5.   Applications Determined under Delegated Powers and Appeal Decisions (Pages 43 - 52) 

Purpose: 

To inform the Sub-Committee of applications determined under delegated powers and 

any appeal decisions. 

Recommendation: 

That the reports be noted. 

 

 
(END) 

Page 2



 

 

 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

Minutes of the meeting of the 

Uplands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

Held in the Council Chamber at 2.00 pm on Monday, 6 March 2023 

PRESENT 

Councillors: Elizabeth Poskitt (Chair), Rizvana Poole (Vice-Chair), Alaa Al-Yousuf, Lidia 

Arciszewska, Hugo Ashton, Andrew Beaney, Mike Cahill, Jeff Haine, David Jackson, Geoff Saul 

and Alex Wilson 

Officers: Phil Shaw (Business Manager - Development Management) Abby Fettes (Interim 

Development Manager), Sarah Hegerty (Planner (Development)) and Phil Shaw (Business 

Manager - Development Management)James Nelson (Senior Planner), Michelle Ouzman 

(Democratic Services Officer) and Anne Learmonth (Democratic Services Officer).  

 

52 Minutes of Previous Meeting  

The minutes of the meeting held on Monday 6 February 2023 were approved and signed by 

the Chairman as a correct record, subject to  

Pg 9 Applications Determined under Delegated Powers and Appeal Decisions.  

22/03132/FUL Fernhill Farm House. 

Councillor Jeff Haine asked if there was an update from the Enforcement Team. Abby Fettes, 

Development Manager confirmed it was a regularisation of an enforcement case and agreed to 

give an update after the meeting.  

53 Apologies for Absence and Temporary Appointments  

Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Dean Temple. Councillor Alaa Al-

Yousuf would be joining the meeting slightly late.  

54 Declarations of Interest  

Declarations of Interest were received as follows 

22/02947?OUT Land East of Worton Road, Middle Barton,  

Councillor David Jackson confirmed that he would remain in the meeting to hear the 

application as he wished to speak as it was his ward.  

 

55 Applications for Development  

The Chair confirmed the revised order of applications to be heard as below.  

22/03311/FUL Mill House Hotel, Station Road, Kingham.  

Phil Shaw, Business Manager for Development and Sustainability introduced the application for 

the redevelopment of the Mill House Hotel site to provide a 38 bedrooms hotel and ancillary 

facilities including restaurant, alehouse, reception/ bake house and demonstrated barn. 

Associated provision of parking, landscaping and reinstatement of the former mill leat 

(Amended plans and information received).  

 

Page 3

Agenda Item 1



Uplands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

06/March2023 

 

 

James Roberts spoke in support of the application.  

 

The Councillors asked for the verbal update referring to the committee report page 80 point 

5.57.  James Roberts confirmed that they would be happy to have a condition on the Surface 

Water Drainage.  

Phil Shaw continued with his presentation and clarified the following points; 

 The applicant had agreed to £20,000 financial contribution towards the parish council’s 

improvements to the village hall and sports pavilion 

 The County Council have raised objections due to highways and drainage details 

however the applicant has submitted and  addressed these issues. The County 

Highways officer will need to confirm agreement in writing. 

 Final drainage details are also almost ready to be submitted.  

 The application was no longer considered a major development as per the previous 

application,  following the applicant seeking pre-application discussions. 

 The impact on AONB was not affected due to the an original hotel being there. The 

addition of holiday cottages would be along the boundary of the site in an area that was 

previously approved for development.  

 Heritage aspects – the building is not a listed building however the site falls in the 

Kingham Conservation Area. The mill leat will be restored. The proposed new 

development’ character and appearance will be preserved and possibly enhanced. 

 The site is within walking distance to the local pub and railway station. The is also a 

local farm shop within walking distance and the hotel will offer a free electric shuttle 

bus to and from the station. Sustainable forms of travel to the site will be encouraged. 

There are no objections from Highways.  

 The Council’s Ecologist Officer confirmed there will be a net gain in biodiversity in the 

planting proposed.  

 

Phil Shaw concluded the that planners recommended approval as per the officers report 

subject to confirmation on the drainage details and Highways formally removing their 

objections, with any other conditions from the County Council and the Section 106 

agreement being signed to agree the financial contributions as set out in the report.  

Councillor Alaa Al-Yousuf joined the meeting in the Chambers at 2.15pm.  

The Chair invited the councillors to discuss the application which raised the following points: 

 Asked for clarification regarding the environment agency and concerns around sewage 

referring to the Windrush Against Sewage Pollution (WASP) letter that had been 

submitted. 

 60 MPH speed limit being moved due to pedestrians accessing the railway station and 

an extension to the pavement near railway bridge. 

 Concerns about the sewage infrastructure and capacity and if there could be a 

condition to deal with comments from Thames Water.  

 Welcomed the proposal as the hotel site would be developed and restored.  

 

Phil Shaw confirmed that there was not a reason for refusal when considering the letter from 

WASP.  

Page 4



Uplands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

06/March2023 

 

 

Phil Shaw confirmed that the speed limit and access along the road were issues that could be 

raised with the County Council and could be covered in the conditions. There could be a 

condition added for officers to be delegated to deal with the legal aspects of sewage and 

Thames Water.  

Councillor Andrew Beaney proposed approval as per officers recommendations to the original 

report. Councillor Jeff Haine seconded this proposal which was put to the vote and carried. 

The vote was unanimous. Councillor Al-Yousuf did not vote due to arriving late to the 

meeting.  

Committee Resolved to:  

1.  Approve the application as per the officers recommendations with additional 

conditions: 

 Urbanising of footpath along Green Lane 

 Move the 60 mph speed limit moved further out of the village.  

 Filling the gap by the railway bridge  

 Officers having delegated authority to assess any Thames Water comments and legal 

aspects of sewage issues.  

 

Councillor Beaney asked that the Construction Environmental Management Plan be shared 

with the Parish Council.  

Phil Shaw left the Chamber at 2.34pm.  

22/02947/OUT Land East of Worton Road, Middle Barton. 

Abby Fettes, Development Manager, introduced the application for outline planning for 

development for up to 28 dwellings, vehicular access, green infrastructure including 

landscaping, and related drainage and other infrastructure works, (all matters reserved other 

than access from Worton Road).  

Abby Fettes gave a verbal update of the additional representations. The County Council have 

removed their objection in relation to drainage subject to imposition to surface water 

drainage conditions.  The applicant has submitted a statement addressing the objection raised 

by the County Council regarding minerals and waste, this concluded that there was no 

potentially viable mineral resource present at the site or within the vicinity of the site. The 

applicant has submitted statement which disagrees with the landscape assessment within the 

officers report. The ecologist  has considered the biodiversity information submitted and has 

raised a further objection as there are discrepancies between the submitted biodiversity net 

gain assessment report and the net gain metric submitted.  

Councillor Jane McRobie, representing the Middle Barton Parish Council addressed the 

committee. A copy of her speech is attached to the original copy of the minutes.  

Peter Frampton, agent for the applicant spoke in support of the application. A copy of his 

speech is attached to the original copy of the minutes.  

Abby Fettes continued with the presentation of the application with attention to the following 

points: 

 History of previous applications of the site. 

 Limited development due to the size of the village which respects the local character of 

the village. 

Page 5



Uplands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

06/March2023 

 

 

 The potential residents would have to rely on private cars as there is a limited bus 

service which would affect the sustainability of the development. 

 Due to the vicinity of the site the development would be pushed out into the local 

country side and would look out of place. The development would give the area an 

urbanised character.  

 Lack of surveys for protected species.  

 Accessibility of potential residents to amenities. 

 There were no technical objections from the County Council subject to conditions and 

Section 106 contributions. 

 The application proposed 28 dwellings of which 50% would be affordable however the 

demonstrable harms would not be outweighed by the low level development.  

 

Abby Fettes concluded that planners advised refusal as per the officers recommendations in 

the committee report.  

The Chair invited the councillors to discuss the application which raised the following points: 

 Considered the need for affordable housing in the village and influx of people moving in 

from outside the area. 

 The development is outside the curtilage of the village 

 Concerns about accessing the village due to narrow roads and increase in private 

vehicle use and potential parking problems. 

 If there was a site visit it would give an idea of the visual impact of the site 

 

Councillor David Jackson proposed a site visit, this was seconded by Councillor Geoff Saul 

which was put to the vote and carried. 

Committee Resolved to  

1. Site visit on Thursday 30th March 2023 at 9.30am.  

 

The Chair reiterated the importance of attending site visits and when proposed, voted on and 

organised.  

 

22/03160/FUL Broadstone Farm, Ditchley Road, Charlbury, Chipping Norton.  

Sarah Hegerty, Planner, introduced the application for proposed alterations and change of use 

of barn to a dwelling, landscaping works and associated operations.  

Alex Cresswell the agent, spoke in support of the application. A copy of his speech is attached 

to the original copy of the minutes.  

The Councillors asked for clarification on surrounding developments near the site, including a 

property which had been recently converted. Alex Cresswell confirmed that the site has 

continuous developments along the Ditchley road into Charlbury. The recent property was 

replaced by a more appropriate design.  

 

 

 

Page 6



Uplands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

06/March2023 

 

 

 

Sarah Hegerty continued with the presentation of the application and with attention to the 

following points: 

 The proposed application would change the characteristics of the setting due to being 

in the open countryside and therefore rural.   

 Within the application the land is confirmed as agricultural  

 CH1 neighbourhood plan covered if the application would meet a specific housing 

need. No information had been submitted to cover this.  

 In relation to policy E3 the current building is modern and not considered to be 
worthy of retention or conversion and as such is not a traditional building in form or 

materials.  

 The Conservation Officer has objected in terms of harms to the conservation area 

having a deleterious impact on the historical character of the  area and would be very 

conspicuous in a very rural landscape.  

 The garage would be situated near the road and would have an impact on the street 

scene.  
Sarah Hegerty concluded that planners advised refusal as per the officers recommendations in 

the committee report.  

The Chair invited the councillors to discuss the application which raised the following points: 

 The councillors were in agreement with the officers recommendations  

 It was felt that there was an impact on the character of the site and the street scene 

 The application was not a traditional build and therefore was not in keeping with the 

surroundings. 

 

Councillor Jeff Haine proposed refusal as per officers recommendations to the original report. 

Councillor Alex Wilson seconded this proposal which was put to the vote and carried.  

Committee Resolved to:  

1. Refuse the application as per the officers recommendations in the committee report.  

 

22/03129/FUL The Chapel 6A Shipton Road, Ascott under Wychwood, Chipping Norton.  

The Chair confirmed that there was a visit to the site and reminded the committee the 

importance of attending the site visits when they are organised.  

Senior Planning Officer James Nelson, introduced the application for the conversion of existing 

dwelling to form three holiday lets.  

James Nelson brought the committee’s attention to the following points; 

 Tourist facilities are near the proposed dwellings and meets the criteria of policy E4 

Local Plan  

 The proposed use of the holiday lets would result in a positive contribution to local 

services and facilities.  

 The proposed holiday lets provide satisfactory living accommodation and is alongside 

The Swan public house and should be considered a community facility and the holiday 

lets will run in conjunction with The Swan public house,  

 There will no impact to the street scene or the AONB.  

Page 7



Uplands Area Planning Sub-Committee 

06/March2023 

 

 

 Addressed members concerns over the parking. Parking would be reliant on existing 5 

parking spaces and the adjacent street. Further consultation with Highways resulted in 

no objections.  

 

James Nelson concluded that planners advised approval as per the officers recommendations 

in the committee report.  

The Chair invited the councillors to discuss the application which raised the following points: 

 Councillors were in agreement with comments from Highways concerning parking on 

the street 

 Agreed that the application was a positive way to support The Swan public house, 

bringing economic benefits to the area as well as the public house.  

 Queried holiday let and the length of a holiday let and could a condition be added. 

James Nelson gave an example of a previous application with a condition on and 

explained that the condition was not necessary as the holiday lets’ use would be in 

conjunction with The Swan public house.  

 

Councillor Andrew Beaney  proposed approval as per officers recommendations to the 

original report. Councillor Jeff Haine seconded this proposal which was put to the vote and 

carried. The vote was unanimous.  

Committee Resolved to:  

1. Approve the application as per the officers recommendations within the committee 

report with an informative for The Swan public house inform holiday let users of the 

parking constraints and to avoid blocking neighbour’s access 

  

56 Applications Determined under Delegated Powers and Appeal Decisions  

The report giving details of applications determined under delegated powers was received and 

noted.  

Pg 95 – Items 31 and 32. Councillors queried the replacement of 6 wooden windows with 

double glazing and why it was refused. It was agreed to seek clarification with the conservation 

officer.  

There was one appeals case; 

APP/D3125/D/22/3303096 The Nordibank, Lidstone, OX7 4HL 

The appeal was dismissed. The application was for thatched roof to be replaced with slate. 

The building is a listed building and therefore protected so the thatched roof is a key 

characteristic and cannot be replaced. The Inspector upheld the decision.  

Councillors asked about the Land Supply, and it was confirmed that there would be an update 

shortly.  

 

The Meeting closed at 3.36 pm 

 

CHAIR 

Page 8



 

WEST OXFORDSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 

  

LOWLANDS AREA PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE 

 

Date: 3rd April 2023 

 

 
REPORT OF THE BUSINESS MANAGER-DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

Purpose: 

To consider applications for development details of which are set out in the following pages. 

 

Recommendations: 

To determine the applications in accordance with the recommendations of the Strategic Director. 

The recommendations contained in the following pages are all subject to amendments in the light of 

observations received between the preparation of the reports etc and the date of the meeting. 

 

List of Background Papers 
 
 

All documents, including forms, plans, consultations and representations on each application, but 

excluding any document, which in the opinion of the ‘proper officer’ discloses exempt information as 

defined in Section 1001 of the Local Government Act 1972.        

                                                 

Please note that: 

1. Observations received after the reports in this schedule were prepared will be summarised in a 

document which will be published late on the last working day before the meeting and available 

at the meeting or from www.westoxon.gov.uk/meetings  

 

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4

http://www.westoxon.gov.uk/meetings


Item Application Number Address Officer 

Pages 11-16 

 

22/02785/HHD Cartref  21 Witney Street 

 

Sarah Hegerty 

 

Pages 17-22 

 

22/02786/LBC Cartref  21 Witney Street 

 

Sarah Hegerty 

 

Pages 23-42 

 

22/02947/OUT Land East Of Worton Road 

 

Stephanie 

Eldridge 

 

Page 10



 

Application Number 22/02785/HHD 

Site Address Cartref  

21 Witney Street 

Burford 

Oxfordshire 

OX18 4RX 

Date 22nd March 2023 

Officer Sarah Hegerty 

Officer Recommendations Approve 

Parish Burford Parish Council 

Grid Reference 425256 E       212175 N 

Committee Date 3rd April 2023 

 

Location Map 

 

 
 

 
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100024316  
 

 

Application Details: 

Erection of single storey in-fill extension to enclose existing courtyard and conversion of existing stone 

outbuilding to create new kitchen and cloakroom. 

 

 

Page 11



 

Applicant Details: 

P Bigwood 

Charts Edge 

Hosey Hill 

Westerham 

TN16 1PL 

 

1 CONSULTATIONS 

 

Parish Council Objection - Serious change in format to an historic burgage plot, both 

walls that are proposed for an increase in height are part of the Listed 

property and should not be altered. There is concern from 

neighbours on both sides that light pollution will be severe. 

It is also a concern of this council that it is over development of a 

small historic listed plot 

 

 

Parish Council  Objection 

 

 

2 REPRESENTATIONS 

 

2.1  8 objections comments have been received and are summarised below: 

 

 Heritage Impacts 

 Amenity Impacts (Overbearing/Loss of Light) 

 Change in outlook from property 

 First floor en-suite covers rear facade 

 Not in keeping with the Listed Building 

 Removal/Damage to historic fabric 

 Overdevelopment 

 

3 APPLICANT'S CASE 

 

We are proposing to demolish small parts (modern features) of the listed building, these are clearly shown and 

indicated on the proposed floor plans with clear red dotted lines. The proposed plans can be compared directly to 

the existing drawings for further information. 

The main aspect of demolition is an existing modern rear lean to structure, this is of a very substandard quality 

and is to be replaced with the proposed extension. 

 

4 PLANNING POLICIES 

 

OS2NEW Locating development in the right places 

OS4NEW High quality design 

H6NEW Existing housing 

EH1 Cotswolds AONB 

EH9 Historic environment 

EH10 Conservation Areas 

EH11 Listed Buildings 

Page 12



DESGUI West Oxfordshire Design Guide 

NPPF 2021 

The National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) is also a material planning consideration.  

 

5 PLANNING ASSESSMENT 

 

5.1 The application seeks permission for erection of single storey in-fill extension to enclose existing 

courtyard and conversion of existing stone outbuilding to create new kitchen and cloakroom. 

 

Background Information 

 

5.2 The application site includes Cartref, a Grade II listed dwelling located within the built up area of 

Burford. The listing description is as follows (taken from the Design and Access Statement): 

"Cottage. Early C18 appearance. Coursed and squared rubble. Cotswold stone roof. Chimney to 

right. 2 storeys. 2 windows: Yorkshire sashes with glazing bars on first floor, wide window with 

glazing bars on ground floor replaces earlier 3- or 4-light ovolo-moulded mullion window - the sill 

appears the former cornice. Doorway to left with evidence of stopped ovolo mouldings (jambs 

chamfered). Shown on OS sheet as The Cottage. 

 

5.3 Furthermore, the cottage has an interesting entry in Gazetteer: 

"Most of the present house is late 17th-century, built probably by the chandler Thomas Parsons 

who owned and lived in it in 1708. The mouldings of the doorway and fragments of ovolo-moulded 

mullions visible at the ground-floor window are from that phase. Some thick internal walls may, 

however, be the remnants of a medieval house, and the line of an earlier steeply pitched roof can 

be seen in the west gable...The present large ground-floor window is probably 19th-century; the 

sills of its 'Yorkshire' or sliding sashes are moulded and have been reset. A cottage to the rear 

almost certainly existed by 1708, when the site accommodated three households" 

 

5.4 The site is within the Burford Conservation Area and the Cotswolds Area of Outstanding Natural 

Beauty. 

 

5.5 The application is before Members of the Planning Sub-Committee for consideration as Burford 

Town Council objected to the proposal which as per the scheme of delegation, is a trigger for 

Listed Buildings.   

 

5.6 Taking into account planning policy, other material considerations and the representations of 

interested parties your officers are of the opinion that the key considerations of the application are: 

 

 Heritage Impacts 

 Siting Design and Massing 

 Amenity Impacts 

 

Heritage Impacts 

 

5.7 As noted above the dwelling is Grade II Listed and also located within the Burford Conservation 

Area. The Council must have regard to section 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and 

Conservation Areas) Act 1990 in respect of any development proposal which affects a listed building 

or its setting and within a Conservation. Further to this the paragraphs of section 16 'Conserving and 

enhancing the historic environment ' of the NPPF are relevant to consideration of the application.  

 

Page 13



5.8 Following the pre application process, this application was submitted and following officers concerns 

and a number of Objection Comments from the neighbouring properties the applicant revised the 

drawings to respond the points raised.  

The Conservation Officer made the following comments on the revised scheme: 

 

The final design scheme is an extremely modern solution, and while this type of structure is not always the 

most appropriate solution for a historic building.  However, in this case - it does at least preserve the floor-

plan / character / and significant features of this property. The addition of an extension would provide much 

needed space in this extremely small cottage - whilst ensuring it would be bought back in to use; ensuring that 

its optimum viable use would be secured. Also, it has the advantage of being wholly reversible - i.e. if it were 

removed in the future -the original form and character of the cottage would still largely be legible, and not 

obscured by a solidly built extension.   

 

Furthermore, utilising the outbuilding would ensure its repair, and preserve it by allowing it to come back into 

use.  N.B the applicant has agreed to retain the proposed opening near the chimney of the outbuilding. 

 

Overall, on balance, I consider the proposal to be a heritage benefit, and therefore, I support the proposal. 

 

5.9 Paragraph 199 of the NPPF provides when considering the impact of a proposal on a designated 

heritage asset, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation. It continues that significance 

can be harmed or lost through alteration. It draws a distinction between substantial harm and less 

than substantial harm to such an asset.  

 

5.10 Paragraph 202 continues that where a development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm 

to the significance of a designated heritage asset, this harm should be weighed against the public benefits 

of the proposal including, where appropriate, securing its optimum viable use. 

 

5.11 Government Guidance states that:  

 

"The National Planning Policy Framework requires any harm to designated heritage assets to be weighed 

against the public benefits of the proposal. 

 

Public benefits may follow from many developments and could be anything that delivers economic, social or 

environmental objectives as described in the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 8). Public 

benefits should flow from the proposed development. They should be of a nature or scale to be of benefit to 

the public at large and not just be a private benefit. However, benefits do not always have to be visible or 

accessible to the public in order to be genuine public benefits, for example, works to a listed private dwelling 

which secure its future as a designated heritage asset could be a public benefit. 

 

Examples of heritage benefits may include: 

 sustaining or enhancing the significance of a heritage asset and the contribution of its setting 

 reducing or removing risks to a heritage asset 

 securing the optimum viable use of a heritage asset in support of its long term conservation" 

 

5.12 In this case, the proposal would lead to less than substantial harm however officers consider that 

this is outweighed by the public benefit of securing the optimum viable use of the property and 

therefore its long term conservation.  

 

5.13 Similarly in regards to the impact of the proposal on the Conservation Area, the proposed 

alterations are not considered to have a detrimental impact on the character or historic interest of 

Page 14



the Conservation Area. Whilst the modern form is a contrast to the traditional materials of the 

building and surrounding context, it allows for the historic fabric to be visible  and due to its 

location to the rear of the property means it is not widely visible outside the application site. As 

such, the Conservation Area is not materially impacted and is therefore preserved. 

 

Siting, Design and Form 

 

5.14 Firstly considering the single storey ground floor additions. As noted above the application was 

amended in response to officers concerns.  

The resulting scheme is a flat roof addition with 2 large lanterns within the roof and sees the removal 

of the uncharacteristic and unsympathetic existing bathroom and kitchen (along the western 

boundary) and incorporates the existing outbuilding (along the eastern boundary) into the floor plan 

which maintains the monopitch form of the existing.  

 

5.15 The boundary walls (which are traditional stone wall with rounded cement topping) with the 

adjoining neighbours will be raised however the ridge height of the mono pitch roof outbuilding will 

remain as existing with only the eaves raised to allow for the additional internal head height needed 

to make it a useable space. The primarily glazed structure allows views of the historic fabric and also 

preserves the plan form of the plot to remain legible and is considered to be reversible.  

 

5.16 Secondly the small addition at first floor allows for an en-suite to the second bedroom. The 

proposed form is a traditional dual pitch infill section finished in cedar cladding. Officers again 

consider this addition to be small in scale and nature and would read as an addition allowing the 

property and its "story" to remain legible.  

 

5.17 In terms of development of the site (which has approx a 30m rear garden) the scheme is 

considered to represent a secondary and subservient addition to the property utilising the built form 

of the existing outbuilding and removal of the uncharacteristic modern additions. The proposed 

extension at its greatest length is 6.5m and 4.5m at its shortest is not considered to be 

overdevelopment or be out of proportion for the dwelling or the site as a whole and is therefore 

acceptable in this regard.    

 

Residential Amenities 

 

5.18 Officers have considered this carefully. As noted above the boundary walls with the adjoining 

neighbours are being raised however, officers do not consider that the additional height will have a 

significant impact by way of loss of light or overbearing impact to the detriment of the adjoining 

neighbours given the existing heights of the boundary wall, the short infill distance (approx. 4m) and 

built form along the boundaries and the orientation of the properties (north facing gardens). The 

height and form of the existing outbuilding remains the same therefore maintaining the existing 

relationship.  

 

5.19 Some of the objection comments relate to light pollution due to the glazed nature of the proposal. 

However officers consider that in the residential context of the site and the residential use of the 

building and given the parapet roof formation, any additional light from the rooflights will not be to 

such a degree that it significantly impacts on the neighbouring properties or their amenity areas.  

 

5.20 Officers therefore consider the proposals are acceptable in this regard.  

 

 

Page 15



Cotswold Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 

 

5.21 The site is located within the Cotswolds AONB wherein great weight should be given to 

conserving landscape and scenic beauty. The proposal would have no material effect on the character 

of the landscape given the site's location within the town and its proximity to other residential 

development. 

 

Conclusion 

 

5.22 In light of this assessment, taking in consideration the Heritage and Conservation Area Impacts, 

design, neighbouring amenity and layout, this proposal is acceptable in accordance with policies 

OS2, OS4, H6, EH1, EH9, EH10 and EH11 of the adopted Local Plan 2031, relevant sections from 

the NPPF and West Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016. 

 

6 CONDITIONS 

 

1. The works must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of 

this consent. 

 

REASON: To comply with the requirements of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 

2. That the development be carried out in accordance with the approved plans listed below. 

 

REASON: For the avoidance of doubt as to what is permitted. 

 

3. The development shall be constructed with the materials specified in the application. 

 

REASON: To ensure that the development is in keeping with the locality and for the avoidance of 

doubt as to what is permitted.  

 

4. All new works and works of making good shall be carried out in materials, and detailed, to match 

the adjoining original fabric except where shown otherwise on the approved drawings. 

 

REASON: To preserve the architectural integrity of the Listed Building.  

 

5. Notwithstanding details contained in the application, detailed specifications and drawings of all 

external windows and doors to include elevations of each complete assembly at a minimum 1:20 

scale and sections of each component at a minimum 1:5 scale and including details of all materials, 

finishes and colours shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 

before that architectural feature is commissioned/erected on site. The development shall be carried 

out in accordance with the approved details.  

 

REASON: To ensure the architectural detailing of the buildings reflects the established character of 

the area. 

 

 

Contact Officer: Sarah Hegerty 

Telephone Number: 01993 861713 

Date: 22nd March 2023 

Page 16



 
Application Number 22/02786/LBC 

Site Address Cartref  

21 Witney Street 

Burford 

Oxfordshire 

OX18 4RX 

Date 22nd March 2023 

Officer Sarah Hegerty 

Officer Recommendations Approve 

Parish Burford Parish Council 

Grid Reference 425256 E       212175 N 

Committee Date 3rd April 2023 

 

Location Map 

 

 
 

 
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100024316  
 

 

Application Details: 

Internal and external alterations to include changes to internal layout and demolition of existing kitchen, 

bathroom and greenhouse. Erection of single storey in-fill extension to enclose existing courtyard and 

conversion of existing stone outbuilding to create new kitchen and cloakroom. 

 

Page 17



Applicant Details: 

P Bigwood 

Charts Edge 

Hosey Hill 

Westerham 

TN16 1PL 

 

1 CONSULTATIONS 

 

Conservation And Design 

Officer 

The final design scheme is an extremely modern solution, and while 

this type of structure is not always the most appropriate solution for 

a historic building.  However, in this case - it does at least preserve 

the floor-plan / character / and significant features of this property. 

The addition of an extension would provide much needed space in 

this extremely small cottage - whilst ensuring it would be bought back 

in to use; ensuring that its optimum viable use would be secured. 

Also, it has the advantage of being wholly reversible - i.e. if it were 

removed in the future -the original form and character of the cottage 

would still largely be legible, and not obscured by a solidly built 

extension.  Furthermore, utilising the outbuilding would ensure its 

repair, and preserve it by allowing it to come back into use.  N.B the 

applicant has agreed to retain the proposed opening near the chimney 

of the outbuilding. 

 

Overall, on balance, I consider the proposal to be a heritage benefit, 

and therefore, I support the proposal. 

 

 

Parish Council Objection - Serious change in format to an historic burgage plot, both 

walls that are proposed for an increase in height are part of the Listed 

property and should not be altered. There is concern from 

neighbours on both sides that light pollution will be severe. 

It is also a concern of this council that it is over development of a 

small historic listed plot 

 

 

Conservation And Design 

Officer 

Comments in report 

 

 

Parish Council  Objection 

 

 

2 REPRESENTATIONS 

 

2.1 14 objection comments have been received and are summarised below: 

 

 Heritage Impacts 

 Amenity Impacts (Overbearing/Loss of Light) 

 Change in outlook from property 

 First Floor en-suite covers rear facade 

Page 18



 Design not in keeping with the Listed Building 

 Removal/Damage to historic fabric 

 Overdevelopment 

 

3 APPLICANT'S CASE 

 

We are proposing to demolish small parts (modern features) of the listed building, these are clearly shown and 

indicated on the proposed floor plans with clear red dotted lines. The proposed plans can be compared directly to 

the existing drawings for further information. 

The main aspect of demolition is an existing modern rear lean to structure, this is of a very substandard quality 

and is to be replaced with the proposed extension. 

 

4 PLANNING POLICIES 

 

NPPF 2021 

EH11 Listed Buildings 

DESGUI West Oxfordshire Design Guide 

OS2NEW Locating development in the right places 

OS4NEW High quality design 

The National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) is also a material planning consideration.  

 

5 PLANNING ASSESSMENT 

 

Introduction 

 

5.1 The application seeks Listed Building Consent for Internal and external alterations to include changes 

to internal layout and demolition of existing kitchen, bathroom and greenhouse. Erection of single 

storey in-fill extension to enclose existing courtyard and conversion of existing stone outbuilding to 

create new kitchen and cloakroom. 

 

5.2 The application site relates to Cartref, a Grade II listed dwelling located within the built up area of 

Burford. The listing description is as follows (taken from the Design and Access Statement): 

"Cottage. Early C18 appearance. Coursed and squared rubble. Cotswold stone roof. Chimney to 

right. 2 storeys. 2 windows: Yorkshire sashes with glazing bars on first floor, wide window with 

glazing bars on ground floor replaces earlier 3- or 4-light ovolo-moulded mullion window - the sill 

appears the former cornice. Doorway to left with evidence of stopped ovolo mouldings (jambs 

chamfered). Shown on OS sheet as The Cottage. 

 

5.3 Furthermore, the cottage has an interesting entry in Gazetteer: 

"Most of the present house is late 17th-century, built probably by the chandler Thomas Parsons 

who owned and lived in it in 1708. The mouldings of the doorway and fragments of ovolo-moulded 

mullions visible at the ground-floor window are from that phase. Some thick internal walls may, 

however, be the remnants of a medieval house, and the line of an earlier steeply pitched roof can 

be seen in the west gable...The present large ground-floor window is probably 19th-century; the 

sills of its 'Yorkshire' or sliding sashes are moulded and have been reset. A cottage to the rear 

almost certainly existed by 1708, when the site accommodated three households" 

 

 

 

 

Page 19



 

Impact upon the Listed Building 

 

5.4 Listed Building applications are not subject to section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 

Purchase Act 2004. Accordingly, the application does not need to be determined in accordance with 

the development plan. Rather, applications must be determined in accordance with section 16(2) of 

the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 (the Act). Given the relevance of 

Local Plan Policies OS4, EH9 and EH11 to this proposal, these policies and the supplementary 

guidance contained in the West Oxfordshire Design Guide 2016 (an adopted SPD) are material 

considerations in this assessment, as is the NPPF 2021. 

 

5.5 Section 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that in determining applications, 

local planning authorities should take account of the desirability of sustaining or enhancing the 

significance of heritage assets. Paragraph 194 requires the applicant to describe the significance of 

affected heritage assets. Paragraph 199 states that when considering the impact of a proposed 

development on the significance of a designated heritage asset, such as a Listed Building, or 

Conservation Area, great weight should be given to the asset's conservation (and the more 

important the asset, the greater the weight should be). Any harm to, or loss of, the significance of a 

designated heritage asset (from its alteration or destruction, or from development within its setting), 

should require clear and convincing justification (paragraph 200). Paragraph 202 states that where a 

development proposal will lead to less than substantial harm to the significance of a designated 

heritage asset, this harm should harm should be weighed against the public benefits of the proposal, 

where appropriate, securing its optimal viable use. 

 

5.6 Government Guidance states that : 

 

"The National Planning Policy Framework requires any harm to designated heritage assets to be weighed 

against the public benefits of the proposal. 

 

Public benefits may follow from many developments and could be anything that delivers economic, social or 

environmental objectives as described in the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraph 8). Public 

benefits should flow from the proposed development. They should be of a nature or scale to be of benefit to 

the public at large and not just be a private benefit. However, benefits do not always have to be visible or 

accessible to the public in order to be genuine public benefits, for example, works to a listed private dwelling 

which secure its future as a designated heritage asset could be a public benefit. 

 

Examples of heritage benefits may include: 

 sustaining or enhancing the significance of a heritage asset and the contribution of its setting 

 reducing or removing risks to a heritage asset 

 securing the optimum viable use of a heritage asset in support of its long term conservation" 

 

5.7 The application has been furnished with a comprehensive heritage statement, which has provided an 

assessment of the significance of Cartref and impact of the proposals upon this significance. Given the 

scale and nature of the proposed changes, officers consider that the assessment provided allows the 

LPA to fully assess the impact on the proposal in line with paragraph 194 of the NPPF.  

 

5.8 In order to identify the potential impact of the proposal upon the significance of designated heritage 

assets, it is first necessary to identify and assess the particular significance of the assets as directed in 

NPPF Paragraph 195. In this case, the principle heritage asset that would be affected is the dwelling 

Cartref, which is Grade II* listed and the outbuilding to the rear.  

Page 20



 

5.9 The heritage significance of Cartref is largely derived from its historical and evidential contribution to 

the area, together with its architectural significance as a very well preserved and fine example of a 

medieval cottage. 

 

5.10 Following, your officers consider that the proposed works to the cottage and outbuildings are of a 

public benefit in that they continue the property to be used for its optimal viable use as dwelling.  

 

5.11 Following the pre application process and consultation with the LPA's Conservation Team as part 

of this application, the Conservation Officer made the following comments on the revised scheme: 

 

The final design scheme is an extremely modern solution, and while this type of structure is not always the 

most appropriate solution for a historic building.  However, in this case - it does at least preserve the floor-

plan / character / and significant features of this property. The addition of an extension would provide much 

needed space in this extremely small cottage - whilst ensuring it would be bought back in to use; ensuring that 

its optimum viable use would be secured. Also, it has the advantage of being wholly reversible - i.e. if it were 

removed in the future -the original form and character of the cottage would still largely be legible, and not 

obscured by a solidly built extension.   

Furthermore, utilising the outbuilding would ensure its repair, and preserve it by allowing it to come back into 

use.  N.B the applicant has agreed to retain the proposed opening near the chimney of the outbuilding. 

Overall, on balance, I consider the proposal to be a heritage benefit, and therefore, I support the proposal. 

 

5.12 Your Officers consider that the proposed works to the cottage and outbuildings are of a public 

benefit in that they enable the continued use of the property for its optimal viable use as dwelling. 

The works to the dwelling and outbuilding are considered to reversible in that they are largely glazed 

and not solid stonework additions. The works are considered to secure its long term future.  

 

5.13 Your officers are therefore satisfied that the works proposed will enhance the special architectural 

and historic interest of the listed building in accordance with Section 16(2) of the 1990 Act and the 

significance of the designated heritage asset will be sustained, in accordance with Section 16 of the 

NPPF. 

 

Recommendation  

 

5.14 In light of this assessment and having paid special regard to the desirability of preserving the 

building, its setting, and any features of special architectural or historic interest it may possess, the 

works are considered to preserve the special character, setting and significance of the listed building. 

As such, your officers recommend that LBC should be granted subject to conditions. 

 

6 CONDITIONS 

 

1. The works must be begun not later than the expiration of three years beginning with the date of 

this consent. 

 

REASON: To comply with the requirements of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation 

Areas) Act 1990 as amended by the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 

2. No demolitions, stripping out, removal of structural elements, replacement of original joinery or 

fittings and finishes shall be carried out except where shown and noted on the approved drawings. 

 

Page 21



REASON: To preserve internal features of the Listed Building.   

 

3. All new works and works of making good shall be carried out in materials, and detailed, to match 

the adjoining original fabric except where shown otherwise on the approved drawings. 

 

REASON: To preserve the architectural integrity of the Listed Building.  

 

 

 

Contact Officer: Sarah Hegerty 

Telephone Number: 01993 861713 

Date: 22nd March 2023 

Page 22



 
Application Number 22/02947/OUT 

Site Address Land East Of 

Worton Road 

Middle Barton 

Oxfordshire 

 

Date 22nd March 2023 

Officer Stephanie Eldridge 

Officer Recommendations Refuse 

Parish Steeple Barton Parish Council 

Grid Reference 443454 E       226266 N 

Committee Date 3rd April 2023 

 

Location Map 

 

 
 

 
© Crown copyright and database rights 2016 Ordnance Survey 100024316  
 

 

Application Details: 

Outline planning for development of up to 28 dwellings, vehicular access, green infrastructure including 

landscaping, and related drainage and other infrastructure works, (all matters reserved other than access 

from Worton Road) 

 

Page 23



Applicant Details: 

Mintondale Development Ltd 

C/o Agent 

 

1 CONSULTATIONS 

 

Parish Council The PC have no formal objections, but have several concerns:  

 

a) access and traffic: Worton Road is quite narrow and well 

used by locals attending the shop, and often there are cars 

parked along the road which may impede larger vehicles/ 

greater flow.  

 

b) local infrastructure: there are drainage issues with rain and 

sewer drains becoming overloaded. Bus services for residents 

are limited, and provision of some form of school transport 

for incoming children is a consideration to be consistent with 

sustainable transport initiatives  

 

c) village development: the site is a mixed development which is 

welcome, and small in scale. It will add pressure on local 

resources (as point b) but may be advantageous to the school 

and may offer opportunity to extend bus services  

 

d) the PC would not like to see increased numbers of housing 

other than the 28 proposed, for reasons of access and 

infrastructure. 

 

Further comments were received by the Parish Council as follows: 

  

The Parish Council would like to add that historically in the six years 

that this development has been under discussion have always 

approved the application. This development would fulfil the needs for 

housing in the village following the village appraisal. The Chair of the 

Parish Council attended a planning meeting at WODC in favour of 

this proposal and nothing has changed. The Parish Council have 

expressed a few concerns which we are sure can be addressed. 

 

 

CPRE Middle Barton has little infrastructure for an increase in housing 

above the needs of local families. This proposal should be seen in the 

context of the surrounding area where there are 1600 new homes 

being built in nearby Upper Heyford, including affordable homes. The 

village's proximity to the market towns of Bicester and Chipping 

Norton makes it a desirable place to live but the facilities, such as 

public services as well as sewage infrastructure are wholly inadequate 

for a significant increase population. While there is a good bus service 

to and from the village, there is only one bus to Steeple Aston that 

goes before 8.50 am and most, including the bus to Oxford and 

Oxford Parkway goes after 9.30 am which is too late for commuters 

Page 24



who need to get to work at 8.30 am. 

 

There are no cycle lanes along the single carriageway old rural roads 

making commuting by bicycle perilous and only for the keenest 

cyclists. This development would therefore mean commuter housing 

where there is still a reliance on cars as the main means of transport. 

 

Overdevelopment of the area. In addition to this planning proposal, a 

flier has recently been issued to residents of Middle Barton from 

Mintondale Developments to discuss another development proposal 

adjacent to this one. We oppose both developments, however the 

scope of this letter is for 22/02947/OUT. 

 

Tranquility and traffic: The Noise Assessment (6 Oct 2022) surmised 

that there would be minimal impact or only temporary impact on 

noise pollution for the residents, but they have noted that "the 

predicted changes in traffic flow are significant on the section of 

Worton Road" which is one of the most frequent objections from 

local residents. Worton Road is a country road with cars parked 

either side thus creating a narrow single lane to use. Large 

construction traffic as well as significant car use once the 

development has been completed and homes occupied, will 

detrimentally impact on the tranquility of the area.  

 

Landscape and biodiversity: Part of the site is situated on higher 

ground and the buildings would be seen from far away. Not enough 

detail of the height of the houses has been given (two storey is all it 

states) and there is inadequate screening with trees and hedgerows to 

make a significant impact to screen the buildings from footpaths 

365/13/10 Steeple Barton footpath, 400/5/10 Westcot Barton 

footpath and 400/4/10 Westcot Barton bridleway. 

 

Light pollution: Cumulatively developments on green field land in the 

countryside with artificial security lighting and street lighting have a 

detrimental impact on Dark Skies and nature throughout the District. 

Dark skies free of artificial light glow are essential for circadian 

rhythms for all creatures as well as human beings. We would want to 

see strict conditions placed on lighting to reduce night glow for all 

proposals in Oxfordshire and this has not been demonstrated here. 

 

Food Security: This is a green field site in a rural location that has 

been used for food production. Without a much anticipated and 

needed strategic land use plan it is short sighted to build homes on 

land that is a valuable commodity in helping to provide food security. 

 

In summary we wish to register our objection and have attached our 

comments regarding this application from 2018 although at that time 

it was withdrawn. Despite some minor changes to the application, our 

position has not changed in the interim. 

 

Page 25



 

Wildlife Trust  Objection, in relation to the following issues: 

 

1 Application does not provide evidence of a net gain in 

biodiversity 

2 The importance of a net gain in biodiversity being in 

perpetuity 

3 Potential impact on Middle Barton Fen SSSI 

4 Management of hedgerows in order to achieve biodiversity 

net gain 

5 The importance of avoiding impact on UK priority species 

including breeding and wintering birds 

 
  

 

Major Planning Applications 

Team 

 No Comment Received. 

 

 

District Ecologist  Concerns regarding BNG metric. 

 

 

Major Planning Applications 

Team 

 Transport:  

 

No objection subject to: 

 

 S106 Contributions  

 An obligation to enter into a S278 and S38 agreement  

 Planning Conditions  

 Informatives  

 

LLFA:  

 

No objection subject to conditions 

 

Education: 

 

No objection subject to: 

 

£17,948 Special School S106 Contribution 

 

Minerals and Waste: 

 

Objection: 

 

The proposal could potentially hinder minerals extraction contrary to 

policy M8 of the Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan Part 1 - 

Core Strategy 

 

Waste Management:  

No objection subject to S106 contributions. 

Page 26



 

 

District Ecologist Please can you ask the applicant for the information below 

demonstrating a measurable biodiversity net gain can be achieved on 

site using the 3.0 defra metric.  

 

a) Biodiversity Impact Plan. This can be produced using the 

information from the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal or 

Ecological Impact Assessment. It should clearly show the 

areas covered by each of the existing habitat types and the 

area in hectares of each habitat type (or for each habitat 

parcel, as some habitats may be scattered throughout the 

site). This can be submitted as an image file, GIS data (e.g. 

Esri.shp) or CAD (.dxf) file.  

b) Proposed Habitats Plan. This can be taken from the site 

layout plan, illustrative masterplan, green infrastructure plan 

or landscape plans (if they are available). The plan should 

clearly show what existing habitat types are being retained 

and enhanced, and what new habitat types will be created; it 

should be colour coded so that each habitat type is easily 

identifiable and the area of each habitat type should be 

quantified in hectares. Other proposed biodiversity 

enhancements should also be shown on this plan. As above, 

this information can also be submitted as an image file, GIS 

data (e.g. Esri.shp) or CAD (.dxf) file.  

c) A full copy of the spreadsheet, detailing the Biodiversity 

Metric: The information in the metric should be directly 

related to the Biodiversity Impact Plan and the Proposed 

Habitats Plan. The completed spreadsheet or the full 

calculations included in the metric should be submitted and 

not just a summary. Detailed justifications for the choice of 

habitat types, distinctiveness and condition should be added 

to the comments column or provided separately in a report.  

 

The BNG assessment can be included as a section (e.g. a chapter) of 

the EcIA report or as a separate report. In summary, to carry out a 

robust assessment of the metric calculations, all of the above 

information is required. This includes the original metric spreadsheet 

as well as the site and habitat data (pre and post development) in a 

GIS format. This information does not yet seem to have been fully 

supplied and therefore is required.  

 

Once this information has been received, please re-consult ecology 

and I will provide formal comments on the BNG assessment and 

submitted preliminary ecological appraisal. 

 

 

WODC Planning Policy 

Manager 

The WODC Policy team response is concluded as follows:  

 

Based on this policy assessment, the key potential harms are 

Page 27



considered to be the impacts on the character of the village and 

whether this development constitutes a logical compliment to the 

existing built form of the village. The lack of public transport is also a 

concern in terms of leading to excessive reliance on the private car.  

 

In terms of the key benefits, these include the provision of additional 

housing to help meet the Council's five year housing land supply (50% 

of which will be affordable) and the economic/ social benefits that this 

development would bring.  

 

Given the 'tilted balance' of the NPPF is acknowledged to be engaged 

at the present time, the key consideration when assessing the 

'planning balance' is whether the adverse impacts (or harms) 

associated with granting planning permission would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits. 

 

 

Natural England  No Comment Received. 

 

 

Thames Water  Waste Comments:  

 

With regard to SURFACE WATER drainage, Thames Water would 

advise that if the developer follows the sequential approach to the 

disposal of surface water we would have no objection. Management of 

surface water from new developments should follow guidance under 

sections 167 & 168 in the National Planning Policy Framework. 

Where the developer proposes to discharge to a public sewer, prior 

approval from Thames Water Developer Services will be required. 

Should you require further information please refer to our website.  

 

We would expect the developer to demonstrate what measures will 

be undertaken to minimise groundwater discharges into the public 

sewer. Groundwater discharges typically result from construction site 

dewatering, deep excavations, basement infiltration, borehole 

installation, testing and site remediation. Any discharge made without 

a permit is deemed illegal and may result in prosecution under the 

provisions of the Water Industry Act 1991. Should the Local Planning 

Authority be minded to approve the planning application, Thames 

Water would like the following informative attached to the planning 

permission: "A Groundwater Risk Management Permit from Thames 

Water will be required for discharging groundwater into a public 

sewer. Any discharge made without a permit is deemed illegal and 

may result in prosecution under the provisions of the Water Industry 

Act 1991. We would expect the developer to demonstrate what 

measures he will undertake to minimise groundwater discharges into 

the public sewer. 

 

There are public sewers crossing or close to your development. If 

you're planning significant work near our sewers, it's important that 

Page 28



you minimize the risk of damage. We'll need to check that your 

development doesn't limit repair or maintenance activities, or inhibit 

the services we provide in any other way. The applicant is advised to 

read our guide working near or diverting our pipes.  

 

Thames Water would advise that with regard to WASTE WATER 

NETWORK and SEWAGE TREATMENT WORKS infrastructure 

capacity, we would not have any objection to the above planning 

application, based on the information provided.  

 

Water Comments: 

 

If you are planning on using mains water for construction purposes, 

it's important you let Thames Water know before you start using it, 

to avoid potential fines for improper usage. 

 

On the basis of information provided, Thames Water would advise 

that with regard to water network and water treatment 

infrastructure capacity, we would not have any objection to the above 

planning application. Thames Water recommends the following 

informative be attached to this planning permission. Thames Water 

will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m head 

(approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it 

leaves Thames Waters pipes. The developer should take account of 

this minimum pressure in the design of the proposed development. 

 

 

WODC Env Health - Uplands No objection to this outline application. If and when a full application 

is submitted a Construction Management Plan condition would be 

recommended. 

 

 

WODC Env Consultation Sites Review of the historical maps we hold indicates that the proposed 

development plot has remained undeveloped over time and appears 

to have been used for agriculture. Given the size of the development 

and the potential for pesticides, herbicides and other unknown 

sources of contamination to be present, please consider imposing the 

conditions suggested. 

 

 

WODC Housing Enabler Housing to provide 50% of the completed dwellings as affordable 

housing. The Planning Statement indicates that policy H3 will be 

observed and proposes that the housing mix is agreed through the 

planning process. An indicative layout included in the application 

shows response to the high demand for smaller affordable homes and 

need for single storey accommodation. I would request that 

consideration is given to providing the rental homes at Social Rent 

levels and the recently introduced requirement for First Homes as 

part of the intermediate affordable housing provision. 

 

Page 29



 

Conservation And Design 

Officer 

 No Comment Received. 

 

 

WODC Landscape And 

Forestry Officer 

 No Comment Received. 

 

 

2 REPRESENTATIONS 

 

2.1 Letters of objection have been received from twelve local residents in respect of this application. 

The key points raised are as follows:  

 

 Highways Impact -Unacceptable increase in traffic on the roads and unsafe access onto Worton 

Road;  

 Worton Road is narrow and vehicles are usually parked along one side of it making it single 

track only. Unsuitable for large vehicles to pass;  

 Lack of infrastructure to support additional housing in the village;  

 Mains water and drainage/sewage can barely cope with existing development;  

 Doctors surgeries in nearby villages and towns are not taking any new patients from adjoining 

villages;  

 Unsustainable - no bus service for people to travel into work and already heavy reliance on 

private car to go to work and school drop offs; 

 Unacceptable impact on biodiveristy;  

 No positives or benefits of the development that would outweigh the harms;  

 Travel Plan in factually incorrect;  

 Flood risk along Worton Road;  

 Village character is being eroded;  

 Could set a precedent for further development;  

 This development alongside the other development consulted on locally could see up to 150 

properties in the village.  

 

3 APPLICANT'S CASE 

 

3.1 A statement submitted in support of the application is concluded as follows:  

 

3.1.1 There is a clear need for housing in the District. This application for up to 28 dwellings, can be 

delivered within the next 5 years, and will significantly assist the Council in meeting its housing 

shortfall. The proposals will meet a demonstrable local need for housing and will contribute 

towards remedying the District shortfall in housing delivery on a site identified and supported by 

the Parish Council (the site was identified and supported by the Parish Council in 2018).  

 

3.1.2 West Oxfordshire District Council is unable to demonstrate a 5-year Housing land Supply. In 

accordance with paragraph 11 (d) Footnote 8, polices for the supply of housing should not be 

considered up to-date.  

 

3.1.3 The tilted balance is engaged and this planning application should be approved, 'any adverse impacts 

of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the 

policies in this Framework taken as a whole'.  

 

Page 30



 The Proposed Development will deliver up to 28 dwellings of which 14 will be affordable. 

This is considered to have a substantial beneficial effect;  

 

 The Oxfordshire County Council Housing List has identified 33 applicants for affordable 

housing whose preference is living in Middle Barton. This is considered to have a substantial 

beneficial effect;  

 

 During the construction phase of the development there will be increased job opportunities 

and investment to the local economy. This is considered to have a moderate beneficial 

effect; 

 

 The increase in the population by the Proposed Development will increase the potential 

footfall which will assist in maintain the viability of local services. This is considered to have a 

limited beneficial effect;  

 

 The financial contribution proposed to the OurBus service will assist in maintaining the 

viability of the service. This will be to the benefit of future occupiers - and to existing 

residents of Middle Barton. This is considered to have a moderate beneficial effect; 

 

 The Proposed Development creates the opportunity to increase the biodiversity value of 

the Site. This is considered to have a moderate beneficial effect;  

 

 Safe access to the Site from Worton Road can be achieved. This is considered a neutral 

effect; 

 

 The Proposed Development will preserve the existing amenity enjoyed by the occupiers of 

neighbouring properties. This is considered a neutral effect;  

 

 The Proposed Development will preserve the character and appearance of the Middle 

Barton and will not impact the Bartons Conservation Area or the setting of any Listed 

Buildings. This is considered to have a neutral effect;  

 

 The Proposed Development will have an overall minor adverse harm on the immediate and 

wider character and appearance of the landscape.  

 

3.1.4 The planning balance clearly demonstrates that the Proposed Development will have no adverse 

impacts that would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the Proposed 

Development.  

 

3.1.5 The Proposed Development will contribute to sustainable development and should be granted 

planning permission. 

 

4 PLANNING POLICIES 

 

OS1NEW Presumption in favour of sustainable development 

OS2NEW Locating development in the right places 

OS4NEW High quality design 

OS5NEW Supporting infrastructure 

H2NEW Delivery of new homes 

H3NEW Affordable Housing 

Page 31



H4NEW Type and mix of new homes 

EH2 Landscape character 

EH3 Biodiversity and Geodiversity 

EH7 Flood risk 

EH8 Environmental protection 

T1NEW Sustainable transport 

T3NEW Public transport, walking and cycling 

T4NEW Parking provision 

E5NEW Local services and community facilities 

DESGUI West Oxfordshire Design Guide 

NPPF 2021 

The National Planning Policy framework (NPPF) is also a material planning consideration.  

 

5 PLANNING ASSESSMENT 

 

5.1 This application seeks outline planning consent for the residential development of the site for up to 

28 dwellings, a new vehicular access, the introduction of green infrastructure including landscaping, 

and related drainage and other infrastructure works (all matters reserved other than access from 

Worton Road). The application was deferred at the previous committee meeting for a site visit. 

 

5.2 The site is part of a large arable field. There are established hedgerows to the boundaries of the 

field, but no existing boundary to the northern and eastern edges of the red line site area. To the 

south and west there are existing properties which front Worton Road. Beyond the site to the 

north, north west, east and south east is open countryside of which it forms part. A recreation 

ground lies a short distance to the south incorporating sports facilities, a children's playground and a 

community building.  

 

5.3 The site is not within the Middle Barton Conservation Area which lies some distance to the south. 

There are no listed buildings in the vicinity. It is not within the Cotswolds AONB or any other 

designated area. A public right of way lies approximately 87m to the east, running in a north-south 

alignment. 

 

Relevant Planning History 

 

5.4 Planning application 18/00398/FUL for the erection of 22 dwellings (including 11 affordable 

dwellings), new vehicular and pedestrian access to Worton Road was recommended by officers for 

refusal for the following reasons:  

 

1. The development site is in an area which is does not benefit from a commuter frequency public 

transport service. This will result in heavy reliance on private vehicles for journeys to destinations outside 

of Middle Barton. In transport terms the development site is therefore considered to be in an 

unsustainable location. The proposal is therefore contrary to West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 Policy 

T1, emerging West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 Policies OS2, T1, and T3, and paragraphs 108 and 

110.  

 

2.  The site is located in the countryside beyond the existing settlement edge of the village of Middle 

Barton. The development would encroach unacceptably into an extensive area of agricultural land that 

characterises the landscape in this location. It would fail to relate satisfactorily to the village or the 

existing rural environment which provides a setting for it, and it would not easily assimilate into its 

surroundings in resulting in the loss of an important area of open space that makes a positive 

Page 32



contribution to the character of the area. It would be prominent and visible in public views from Worton 

Road. There would be a substantial impact on the character and appearance of this location, and the 

countryside would be urbanised and its tranquillity disturbed to a harmful degree. The proposal is 

therefore contrary to West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 policies BE2, BE4, NE1, NE3, and H2, 

emerging West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 policies OS2, and EH1, and the relevant policies of the 

NPPF, in particular paragraph 170.  

 

3. The proposed layout would not provide an appropriate level of amenity in relation to the proximity of 

buildings on plots 10, 15, 18 and 19. The design, scale, extent, arrangement and depth of development 

would not reflect the established character of the area, where the site adjoins ribbon development on 

the east side of Worton Road. It would fail to establish a strong sense of place and would not reinforce 

local distinctiveness. The peripheral planting is of insufficient depth, would be difficult to manage 

effectively, and where plots adjoin planting there is the potential for removal and lopping of trees and 

hedgerows and encroachment of garden areas. The proposal would not add to the overall quality of the 

area and the landscaping is unlikely to provide effective mitigation. The proposal is therefore contrary to 

West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 Policies BE2, BE4 and H2, emerging West Oxfordshire Local Plan 

2031 Policies OS2, and OS4, and the relevant paragraphs of the NPPF, in particular 127 and 130.  

 

4.  The applicant has not entered into legal agreements to ensure that the development adequately 

mitigates its impact on community infrastructure, secures the provision of affordable housing, secures 

the provision and appropriate management of landscaping and open space, and provides for public art. 

The local planning authority cannot therefore be satisfied that the impacts of the development can be 

made acceptable. Consequently the proposal conflicts with West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 Policies 

BE1, TLC7 and H11, emerging West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 Policies OS2, OS5, and H3, and 

paragraph 54 of the NPPF.  

 

5. Insufficient assessment and mitigation details have been submitted to enable the Local Planning 

Authority to fully assess the extent to which the Hazel dormouse, which is protected under the Wildlife 

and Countryside Act 1981 (as amended) and The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 

2017 and listed as a species of Principal Importance in Section 41 of the Natural Environment and 

Rural Communities Act 2006, priority habitat (hedgerow) and important hedgerow protected by the 

Hedgerow Regulations 1997, are likely to be affected. he Local Planning Authority is also unable to fully 

assess the proposals in the light of relevant policy and guidance and the three derogation tests, as 

described in the ODPM Circular 06/2005 and The Conservation of Species and Habitats Regulations 

2017. Without sufficient information the Local Planning Authority may be unable to meets its statutory 

duty under the Natural Environment and Rural Communities Act 2006. The proposal is therefore 

contrary to West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2011 Policies NE13 and NE15, emerging West Oxfordshire 

Local Plan 2031 Policy EH2, and the relevant policies of the NPPF.  

 

5.5 Members of the Uplands Planning Sub-Committee resolved to refuse the application in accordance 

with the officer's recommendations. The application was withdrawn by the applicant prior to the 

decision notice being issued.  

 

5.6 A pre-application advice enquiry was then submitted in 2021 seeking advice on the development of 

the site for housing. The site, the subject of the pre-application advice, was smaller - it did not 

extend as far north as that being considered as part of this application. Concerns were raised by 

officers at that stage regarding the site area and indicative layouts. Your officers advised that the 

development proposal would not appear to form a logical complement to the existing built form, 

extending beyond the current edge of development on the western side of Worton Road and not 

relating particularly well to the existing properties on the eastern side.  

Page 33



 

5.7 Taking into account planning policy, other material considerations and the representations of 

interested parties your officers are of the opinion that the key considerations of the application are:  

 

Principle 

 

5.8 Middle Barton is defined in the settlement hierarchy at Table 4b of the Local Plan as one of a 

number of 'villages', which sit below the main service centres and rural service centres due to the 

more limited availability of services and facilities.  

 

5.9 The District Council's Settlement Sustainability Report provides a good source of information on the 

relative 'sustainability' of each settlement with the most recent report (November 2016) ranking 

Middle Barton 20th (out of 41 settlements) on an unweighted basis and 19th on a weighted basis. 

 

5.10 Your officers note that in relation to the previously withdrawn application (and the pre-application 

advice that followed it) Oxfordshire County Council and your officers had expressed particular 

concerns about the lack of public transport and the reliance that would be placed on the use of the 

private car as a result. Middle Barton is by its very nature heavily reliant on private modes of 

transport. There is a limited bus service so the majority of trips by residents will be carried out by 

car. This site is on the very periphery of the village so maximising the opportunities for pedestrian 

and cycle links to other facilities in the village is crucial. Therefore, consideration of the sustainability 

of this location in terms of accessibility to services and facilities remains an important consideration.   

 

5.11 Policy OS2 deals with the overall distribution of new development across the District and in 

accordance with the settlement hierarchy at Table 4b seeks to steer the majority of new 

development towards the larger main service centres and rural service centres.  

 

5.12 Villages such as Middle Barton are identified as being 'suitable for limited development which 

respects the village character and local distinctiveness and would help to maintain the vitality of these 

communities'. 

 

5.13 Whilst the Local Plan identifies a number of smaller, non-strategic housing allocations within 

various villages, there are none at Middle Barton reflecting the fact that no suitable sites were 

identified by the Council during the Local Plan process. 

 

5.14 While the Council's current housing land supply position is of significant relevance here, it does not 

mean that the general principles sets out in Policy OS2 should be completely set aside. As these are 

general principles which are intended to apply to all forms of development, not just residential 

schemes, they remain applicable, irrespective of the 5-year housing land supply position.  

 

5.15 Those listed below are particularly relevant:  

 

 Be of a proportionate and appropriate scale to its context having regard to the potential 

cumulative impact of development in the locality; 

 Form a logical complement to the existing scale and pattern of development and/or the 

character of the area; 

 Be compatible with adjoining uses and not have a harmful impact on the amenity of existing 

occupants; 

 As far as is reasonably possible protect or enhance the local landscape and the setting of the 

settlement/s; and 

Page 34



 Be provided with safe vehicular access and safe and convenient pedestrian access to supporting 

services and facilities. 

 

5.16 Middle Barton is located within the Chipping Norton sub-area which has an indicative distribution 

of 2,047 homes - although importantly, this is not to be taken as an absolute target or maximum 

ceiling to limit development.  

 

5.17 Table 9.4b in the WOLP explains that the 2,047 indicative distribution comprises, 240 homes 

already completed, 315 homes on larger sites which are the subject of an existing planning 

permission, 104 homes from smaller site permissions and 1,200 homes at the East Chipping Norton 

SDA - one of four strategic site allocations in the Local Plan.  

 

5.18 It also includes an anticipated windfall allowance of 188 units which this proposal would contribute 

towards.  

 

5.19 Policy H2 explains the circumstances in which planning permission for new dwellings will be 

permitted at the main service centres, rural service centres and villages such as Middle Barton. As 

the site comprises undeveloped, greenfield land in an edge of settlement location, the following 

wording applies:  

 

'New dwellings will be permitted at the main service centres, rural service centres and villages in the 

following circumstances:  

 

On undeveloped land adjoining the built up area where convincing evidence is presented to 

demonstrate that it is necessary to meet identified housing needs, it is in accordance with the 

distribution of housing set out in Policy H1 and is in accordance with other policies in the plan in 

particular the general principles in Policy OS2'.   

 

The Development Plan 

 

5.20 Section 38 (6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires applications for planning 

permission to be determined in accordance with the development plan unless material 

considerations indicate otherwise.  Section 70 (2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

provides that the local planning authority shall have regard to the provisions of the development 

plan, so far as material to the application, and to any other material considerations.  In the case of 

West Oxfordshire, the Development Plan is the Local Plan 2031 adopted in September 2018. 

 

National Policy/Guidance  

 

5.21 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets out the Government's planning policies and 

how these are expected to be applied. The NPPF also sets out a presumption in favour of 

sustainable development and states that development proposals that accord with an up-to-date 

development plan should be approved without delay. The NPPF (Paragraph 11d) goes on to say that 

where policies that are most important for determining the application are out-of-date, permission 

should be granted unless: 

 

I. the application of policies in this Framework that protect areas or assets of particular 

importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development proposed; or 

II. any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits, 

when assessed against the policies in this Framework taken as a whole.  

Page 35



 

5.22 The NPPF requires local planning authorities to demonstrate an up-to-date five year supply of 

deliverable housing sites. Where local authorities cannot demonstrate a five year supply of 

deliverable housing sites, paragraph 11 of the NPPF, as set out above, is engaged (Identified in 

footnote 8).  

 

5.23 The Council's latest Housing Land Supply Position Statement (2022-2027) concludes that the 

Council is currently only able to demonstrate a 4.1 year supply.   As such, the provisions of 

paragraph 11d) of the NPPF is engaged. 

 

5.24 In view of the above it is clear that the decision-making process for the determination of this 

application is therefore to assess whether the adverse impacts of granting planning permission for 

the proposed development would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits or whether 

there are specific policies in the framework that protect areas or assets of particular importance 

which provide a clear reason for refusing the development proposed.  

 

Housing Mix 

 

5.25 The proposed housing mix is only illustrative at this stage. However, the indicative information 

submitted would accord with the required housing mix outlined in policy H4 of the Local Plan.  

 

5.26 Middle Barton falls in the 'high value zone' where a site of this size would be required to provide 

50% of the homes on site as affordable (Policy H3 of the Local Plan 2031). The applicant is 

proposing to provide 50% affordable houses on site in accordance with the policy requirements.  

 

5.27 This would be secured via a legal agreement if Members were minded to approve the application.  

 

Siting, Design and Form 

 

5.28 The site is located in the countryside beyond the existing settlement edge of the village. While the 

masterplan provided is only indicative at this stage, it is clear that a development of 28 dwellings 

would occupy the majority of the site area.  

 

5.29 There is a considerable amount of modern estate development in the northern part of the village, 

north of Enstone Road. However, in the vicinity of the application site, on the east side of Worton 

Road, built form is limited. North of the recreation ground there are 5 detached houses on large 

plots fronting Worton Road. There is no development in depth away from the road and the 

proposal would push out into the open countryside to the north and east. It would extend north of 

the northernmost house on the west side of Worton Road by approximately 45m on rising ground 

towards the crest of the hill; the refused 2018 scheme only extended approximately 25m from this 

point. 

 

5.30 The development would occupy only a portion of the existing field and there are no established 

existing features such as walls, hedges or trees that provide a demarcation of the site area. Your 

officers are of the opinion that this would appear as an alien intrusion into the open countryside. 

 

5.31 Given the location and extent of the site area, your officers consider that the development would 

fail to relate satisfactorily to the village or the existing rural environment which provides a setting 

for it, and it would not easily assimilate into its surroundings in resulting in the loss of an important 

area of open space that makes a positive contribution to the character of the area. It would also be 

Page 36



prominent and visible in public views from Worton Road. There would be a substantial harmful 

impact on the character and appearance of this location.  

 

5.32 Further, while the details of landscaping would be dealt with at the reserved matters stage, the 

indicative masterplan provided shows an intention to provide planting to the edges of the site. 

However, the planting shown has significant gaps along the boundaries of the site and the plan 

indicates that there would only be space for planting one tree deep for the larger species for the 

most part (other than in the north eastern corner where a cluster of planting is shown). Your 

officers are of the opinion that the indicative planting is of insufficient depth to provide a meaningful 

buffer that would appropriately mitigate the visual impact of the development. The management of 

the existing hedge to the Worton Road boundary would need to ensure that this continues to 

provide a landscape feature whilst balancing the need to provide screening but also an appropriate 

level of outlook and light to the proposed properties fronting the road. 

 

Landscape Impact 

 

5.33 The site is not within a designated area, but is pleasant countryside that provides a landscape 

setting for the rural village of Middle Barton. A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment has been 

provided to support the application. 

 

5.34 The LVIA submitted by the applicant concludes that: 

 

'it is considered that the proposals could be integrated in this location without any notable adverse 

effects upon the receiving landscape character and visual environment. It is acknowledged that the 

proposals would result in the loss of an area of arable land which would represent a change to the 

perceived character of the site, from green field to residential development. However, this would be the 

same for any green field site and green fields are not protected for their own sake by national or local 

policy.' 

 

5.35 When viewed from Worton Road, the existing hedge along the western edge of the field does 

provide a degree of screening, but the field beyond is perceptible, particularly in winter. However, 

cutting of the hedge, consistent with regular management and ensuring reasonable outlook and light 

to any plots along the frontage would reduce its height and volume. There is no intention shown on 

the indicative plans to buffer the roadside hedge. 

 

5.36 A public footpath to the east runs along the eastern edge of the arable field. The hedge to this edge 

and those to adjoining fields currently provides effective screening in views towards the site but this 

would vary depending on future management. 

 

5.37 The creation of the access would open up the view into the site and the proximity of any dwellings 

provided along the frontage as well as an appreciation of development in depth away from the road 

would be visually harmful in terms of landscape character in your officer’s opinion.  

 

5.38 The site doesn't sit within the context of existing landscape features or built form that suggest 

development here might be appropriate by way of infilling or rounding off. The morphology on the 

east side of the road is of a large gap in development formed by the recreation grounds and limited 

linear development to the north of this at Nos. 52 to 60. On the west side of the road the built 

form terminates at Nos. 61/63, some way short of the northern edge of the proposed site (approx. 

45m short).  

 

Page 37



5.39 Your officers are of the opinion that estate type development in this location would be entirely 

alien here and the proposal cannot be considered a logical complement to the village morphology. 

It would not appropriately assimilate into the environment of the locality.  

 

5.40 Your officers are of the view that there would be significant harmful change to the landscape arising 

from the proposal. The ability of the landscape to accommodate this change is contingent to a great 

extent on suitable mitigation being provided. While the indicative layout shows the intention to 

provide some landscaping to the edges, for the reasons set out above, there is no certainty that this 

would be effective in the long term. Your officers are of the opinion that the scale and extent of 

development would remain evident even if the landscaping buffers were deepened where possible 

while still providing 28 dwellings of an appropriate density on this site.  

 

Highways 

 

5.41 This planning application is supported by a Transport Statement which has been considered by the 

Local Highway Authority. In order to facilitate improved pedestrian access, a footway link is 

proposed from the site to the south linking with existing provision at the Hillside Road junction and 

a pedestrian connection will be made to the existing PROW at the eastern site boundary.  

 

5.42 The nearest bus stop is located 200m south of the site on Worton Road adjacent to Middle Barton 

Sports and Social Club. A bus stop is also located near the proposed site access; however, no buses 

are currently operating from this location. 

 

5.43 No objection to the application has been raised by the LHA from a transport strategy perspective 

subject to a number of planning conditions, an obligation to enter into a S278/S38 agreement with 

OCC, and a legal agreement to secure S106 contributions towards public transport services and 

public footpath improvements.  

 

5.44 However, the LHA has raised concerns about the sustainability of the site in transport terms for 

the following reasons:  

 

 There is limited pedestrian infrastructure around the site;  

 There is a limited bus service - although it is noted that paragraph 4.25 of the Transport 

Assessment refers to a financial contribution to increase the bus service;  

 Most of the bus services run Monday to Friday only. The introduction of weekend services 

would benefit residents who work and for leisure purposes;  

 The Transport Assessment refers to a 15 - 20-minute walk to the primary school. From which 

part of the site has this been measured from? For families with small children this is likely to be 

considered a significant distance and for parents accompanying children, it would mean a 40 min 

round trip. It is therefore highly likely that, because of this (if available) the car will be chosen 

mode for the journey to school. 

 

5.45 Public transport in Middle Barton consists entirely of journeys run by Ourbus Bartons, a non-for-

profit operator, providing services for Middle Barton and the surrounding villages. Options for 

journeys to work are very limited, consisting of a single journey to Steeple Aston (for S4 bus to 

Oxford or Banbury) and Heyford station (for train services), with an equivalent return arrangement. 

The County Council has identified that there is little to no prospect of regular bus services through 

Middle Barton and that a financial contribution is required to at least assist with the longevity of the 

Ourbus Bartons services (e.g., through contributing towards a replacement vehicle or additional 

journeys). 

Page 38



 

Residential Amenities 

 

5.46 The layout plan provided is only indicative at this stage. These matters would be fully assessed and 

taken account of at reserved matters stage. Careful consideration would need to be given 

particularly to the existing dwelling located to the south of the site in terms of overlooking or loss 

of light as a result of the siting of the proposed dwellings. The outlook from some properties in the 

vicinity may be affected in terms of the loss of an attractive view, but effect on a private view is not 

material to this assessment. 

 

Flood Risk 

 

5.47 The site does not fall within an area of flood risk. However, the Local Lead Flood Authority initially 

raised an objection to the drainage strategy submitted in support of the application.  

 

5.48 However, following the submission of additional information, the LLFA have now removed their 

objections subject to conditions being attached to any permission. 

 

Biodiversity 

 

5.49 Policy EH3 sets out that the biodiversity of West Oxfordshire shall be protected and enhanced to 

achieve an overall net gain in biodiversity and minimise impacts on geodiversity. This includes 

protecting and mitigating for impacts on priority habitats, protected species and priority species, 

both for their importance individually and as part of a wider network. All major and minor 

applications should demonstrate a net gain in biodiversity where possible. For major applications 

this should be demonstrated in a quantifiable way through the use of a Biodiversity Impact 

Assessment Calculator (BIAC) based on that described in the DEFRA Biodiversity Offsetting 

guidance or a suitably amended version.  

 

5.50 The Council's Ecologist has objected to the application on the grounds that the initial application 

submission did not sufficiently demonstrate a measurable biodiversity net gain on the site. 

However, additional information has now been submitted by the applicant and appropriate re-

consultation has been carried out with the Council's Ecologist.  

 

5.51 This matter is ongoing as the Ecologist is still not satisfied with the Biodiversity metric. An update 

will be given at the meeting.  

 

Minerals and Waste 

 

5.52 The proposed development is not within a mineral safeguarding area, but it would result in 

residential development closer to the Duns Tew Minerals Safeguarding Area.  

 

5.53 Policy M8 of the Oxfordshire Minerals and Waste LP Part 1 states that development that would 

prohibit or otherwise hinder the possible future working of the mineral will not be permitted 

unless one of three criteria are met. Those criteria are:  

 

 The site has been allocated in the local plan or neighbourhood plan;  

 The need for the development outweighs the economic and sustainability considerations 

relating to the mineral resource; or 

 That the mineral will be extracted prior to the development. 

Page 39



 

5.54 In this case, an objection has been raised by the County Council on the grounds that the site is not 

allocated in the local plan, there has been no evidence that the need for the development outweighs 

the mineral consideration, and there is no plans for prior extraction of the mineral.  

 

5.55 The applicant has advised that a response to this will be submitted prior to the committee meeting, 

but that the undersupply of housing in the district outweighs any minerals consideration.  

 

Infrastructure 

 

5.56 With regard to education provision, the County Council has raised no objections to the application 

subject to a S106 contribution of £17,948 towards special education needs and disabilities (SEND) 

provision. No further contributions towards other education provision (Early years, primary and 

secondary) have been requested.  

 

5.57 No objections have been raised in relation to waste management subject to a S106 contribution of 

£2631 towards the expansion and efficiency of Household Waste and Recycling Centres.  

 

Legal Agreement 

 

5.58 A legal agreement has not been entered into at this stage. However, if Members resolve to approve 

the application then a S106 agreement will be required to secure the following:  

 

 50% affordable housing;  

 Biodiversity net gain provision (subject to the Council's Ecologist updated response);  

 £2631 towards the expansion and efficiency of Household Waste and Recycling Centres;  

 £17,948 towards special education needs and disabilities (SEND) provision;  

 £24,926 towards local bus services;  

 £12,000 towards footpath improvements.  

 

Conclusion 

 

5.59 The site is located on the northern edge of the village of Middle Barton, which benefits from a 

number of services and facilities such as a primary school, post office and pub. However, it does not 

benefit from public transport that would be suitable for travel to work and a frequency of local 

service convenient for day to day travel to larger settlements. It is therefore considered by your 

officers that the location of the site is not easily accessible and sustainable in transport terms, and 

the development would result in unacceptable reliance on the private car.  

 

5.60 Your officers also consider that the proposal would represent an inappropriate incursion into open 

countryside that would be unacceptable in terms of its visual impact, urbanising effects and harm to 

landscape character. The scale, extent and depth of development would not reflect the established 

character of the area. It would fail to establish a strong sense of place and would not reinforce local 

distinctiveness. It is unlikely that existing and proposed planting would allow the development to 

satisfactorily assimilate into its surroundings.  

 

5.61 Further, your officers also note the objection raised by the County Minerals and Waste team that it 

has not been sufficiently demonstrated that the development would not prohibit or otherwise 

hinder the possible future working of the mineral at Duns Tew, nor that the development would 

meet one of the three criteria outlined with the relevant policy which may address this concern.  

Page 40



 

5.62 Subject to the final responses from the Council's Ecologist, it is anticipated that matters relating to 

biodiversity could be secured via appropriate planning conditions/a legal agreement. Similarly, there 

are no other technical objections raised to the scheme subject to a number of conditions and S106 

contributions recommended by statutory consultees.  

 

5.63 Taking in to account the material considerations, with particular reference to paragraph 11(d) of 

the NPPF, your officers are of the opinion that the significant demonstrable harms identified above 

regarding accessibility, visual impact, urbanising effects and harm to landscape character, as well as 

the outstanding technical objection regarding the impact on minerals extraction, would not be 

outweighed by the low level of benefit that the provision of only 28 dwellings (albeit 50% 

affordable) would contribute towards the current shortfall of housing supply in the district. There 

are no other demonstrable benefits of the scheme that would outweigh the harm identified. As 

such, the application is recommended for refusal. 

 

6 REASONS FOR REFUSAL 

 

 

1. The site is located in the countryside beyond the existing settlement edge of the village of 

Middle Barton. The development would encroach unacceptably into an extensive area of 

agricultural land that characterises the landscape in this location. An estate type development in 

this location would be entirely alien and the proposal cannot be considered a logical 

complement to the village morphology or the existing rural environment which provides a 

setting for it, and it would not easily assimilate into its surroundings in resulting in the loss of an 

important area of open space that makes a positive contribution to the character of the area. It 

would be prominent and visible in public views from Worton Road, particularly given the rising 

land levels to the north of the site. The development would fail to establish a strong sense of 

place and would not reinforce local distinctiveness. The proposal would not add to the overall 

quality of the area and the landscaping is unlikely to provide effective mitigation. With particular 

reference to paragraph 11(d) of the NPPF,  the significant demonstrable harms identified would 

not be outweighed by the low level of benefit that the provision of only 28 dwellings (albeit 50% 

affordable) would contribute towards the current shortfall of housing supply in the district. 

There are no other demonstrable benefits of the scheme that would outweigh the harm 

identified. The proposal is therefore contrary to policies OS2, OS4, and H2 of the West 

Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 and the relevant provisions of the NPPF, in particular paragraph 

11(d).  

 

 

2. The development site is in an area which is does not benefit from a commuter frequency public 

transport service. This will result in heavy reliance on private vehicles for journeys to 

destinations outside of Middle Barton. In transport terms the development site is therefore 

considered to be in an unsustainable location. The proposal is therefore contrary to policies 

OS2, T1 and T3 of the West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 and the relevant provisions of the 

NPPF. 

 

3. The applicant has not entered into legal agreements to ensure that the development adequately 

mitigates its impact on community infrastructure, secures the provision of affordable housing, 

secures the provision and appropriate management of open space, and provides for footpath 

improvements, local bus services, SEND education and waste management. The Local Planning 

Authority cannot therefore be satisfied that the impacts of the development can be made 

Page 41



acceptable. Consequently the proposal conflicts with policies OS2, OS5, H3, T1 and T3 of the 

West Oxfordshire Local Plan 2031 and the relevant provisions of the NPPF. 

 

 

 

Contact Officer: Stephanie Eldridge 

Telephone Number:  

Date: 22nd March 2023 

Page 42



DELGAT 
 

West Oxfordshire District Council – DELEGATED ITEMS  

 

Application Types Key 

 

Suffix 

 

 Suffix  

ADV Advertisement Consent LBC Listed Building Consent 

CC3REG County Council Regulation 3 LBD Listed Building Consent - Demolition 

CC4REG County Council Regulation 4 OUT Outline Application 

CM County Matters RES Reserved Matters Application 

FUL Full Application S73 Removal or Variation of Condition/s 

HHD Householder Application POB Discharge of Planning Obligation/s 

CLP 

CLASSM 

 

HAZ 

PN42 

 

PNT 

NMA 

WDN 

Certificate of Lawfulness Proposed 

Change of Use – Agriculture to 

Commercial 

Hazardous Substances Application 

Householder Application under Permitted 

Development legislation. 

Telecoms Prior Approval 

Non Material Amendment 

Withdrawn 

 

CLE 

CND 

PDET28 

PN56 

POROW 

TCA 

TPO 

 

FDO 

Certificate of Lawfulness Existing 

Discharge of Conditions 

Agricultural Prior Approval 

Change of Use Agriculture to Dwelling 

Creation or Diversion of Right of Way 

Works to Trees in a Conservation Area 

Works to Trees subject of a Tree 

Preservation Order 

Finally Disposed Of 

 

Decision 

Code 

 

 

Description 

 

Decision 

Code 

 

Description 

APP 

REF 

P1REQ 

P3APP 

P4APP 

Approve 

Refuse  

Prior Approval Required 

Prior Approval Approved 

Prior Approval Approved 

RNO 

ROB 

P2NRQ 

P3REF 

P4REF 

Raise no objection  

Raise Objection  

Prior Approval Not Required 

Prior Approval Refused 

Prior Approval Refused 

 

 

West Oxfordshire District Council – DELEGATED ITEMS 

Week Ending 14th March 2023 

 

  

Application Number.  

 

Ward. 

 

 Decision. 

 

 

1.  21/03389/CND Stonesfield and Tackley SPL 

  

APPROVED:-REFUSED:- 

Land Between Woodstock Sewage Works And B4027 Banbury Road Woodstock 

Mr Roy Cox 

 

 

Page 43

Agenda Item 5



DELGAT 
 

2.  22/02680/FUL Chipping Norton REF 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Construction of a pair of semi-detached dwellings with associated vehicular access (amended 

plans). 

Land To The Rear Of 58 West Street Chipping Norton 

Ms Amanda Bond 

 

 

3.  22/02732/FUL Burford APP 

  

Demolition of existing 2 storey dwelling and associated agricultural barns. Erection of 

replacement 2 storey dwelling, with associated parking and landscaping (amended plans). 

Tadpole Farm Taynton Burford 

Mr And Mrs Bainbridge 

 

 

4.  22/02952/FUL Charlbury and Finstock APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Sub division of existing dwelling to create two dwellings with associated works to include 

formation of a new access and parking area 

2 Elm Crescent Charlbury Chipping Norton 

Mrs Janet Goves 

 

 

5.  22/03063/HHD Ascott and Shipton APP 

  

Erection of single storey conservatory 

3 Shipton Road Ascott Under Wychwood Chipping Norton 

Mr Michael Attwell And Mr Douglas Chirnside 

 

 

6.  22/03124/LBC Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Alterations to install replacement windows. 

Shepherds Cottage Chipping Norton Road Little Tew 

Mrs Catherine Hollier 

 

 

7.  22/03143/HHD Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of a tennis pavilion 

The Grange Chipping Norton Road Little Tew 

Mr And Mrs Tyce 

 

 

Page 44



DELGAT 
 

8.  22/03211/LBC Woodstock and Bladon APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Internal and external alterations to replace the ground and first floor windows (Part 

Retropective) (Amended) 

14 Park Street Woodstock Oxfordshire 

Mr O McGovern 

 

 

9.  22/03217/LBC Freeland and Hanborough APP 

  

Replacement of 15 existing windows. 

Hanborough Lodge Main Road Long Hanborough 

Mr Mark Utting 

 

 

10.  22/03304/HHD Chadlington and Churchill WDN 

  

Erection of detached outbuilding 

2 Langston Villas Station Road Kingham 

Mr Brookes 

 

 

11.  22/03348/HHD Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Single Storey Rear Extension (amended plans) 

Orchard Cottage  Church End Swerford 

Mrs Laikin 

 

 

12.  22/03388/FUL Charlbury and Finstock APP 

  

Erection of a equipment store with associated landscaping and works. 

Ambleside Farm Ditchley Road Charlbury 

Mr Moss 

 

 

13.  22/03420/HHD The Bartons APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Single storey rear and front extensions, replacement of existing flat roof with a pitched roof, 

garage conversion 

1 South Street Middle Barton Chipping Norton 

Jill Kavanagh 

 

 

Page 45



DELGAT 
 

14.  22/03473/FUL Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

  

Removal of existing agricultural shed. Siting of 3 holiday glamping pods (static caravans) with 

associated infrastructure 

Merryweather Farm  Hook Norton Road Chipping Norton 

White 

 

 

15.  22/03482/FUL Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Demolition of existing dwelling and outbuildings. Erection of a replacement dwelling, ancillary 

garage and pool house. Associated works including swimming pool and landscaping. 

East Lodge The Green Kingham 

S Hanson 

 

 

16.  22/03513/HHD Chipping Norton APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Proposed rear extension and alterations including new second floor flat roof dormer window 

11 The Leys Chipping Norton Oxfordshire 

Mr And Mrs N Medler 

 

 

17.  22/03522/HHD Woodstock and Bladon REF 

  

Demolition of rear flat roof extension. Erection of a two storey and first floor rear extension 

and construction of a detached carport 

15 Oxford Road Woodstock Oxfordshire 

Mr Graham Winstone 

 

 

18.  22/03546/HHD Charlbury and Finstock APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

External refurbishments including raising roof height, new solar PV panels, external wall 

insulation and new double glazed windows 

Treetops Stonesfield Lane Charlbury 

Steven & Katherine Holmes 

 

 

19.  22/03552/LBC Stonesfield and Tackley APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

 Replacement of 5 windows. (amended description) 

10 Ball Lane Tackley Kidlington 

Katherine O'Donnell 

 

 

Page 46



DELGAT 
 

20.  23/00002/OUT Burford REF 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Outline application for provision of two self build/custom housebuilding plots with new access 

from the A40/Oxford Road and provision for pedestrian crossing. All matters reserved 

except for access 

Land North East Of Lantern House 15 Shilton Road Burford 

Mr And Mrs Richard And Barbara Allen 

 

 

21.  23/00030/HHD Ascott and Shipton REF 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of a single storey rear extension 

Snowdrop Cottage 15 High Street Shipton Under Wychwood 

Mr Wayne Lewis 

 

 

22.  23/00042/HHD Freeland and Hanborough APP 

  

Replacement detached garage 

67 Wroslyn Road Freeland Witney 

Mr And Mrs A Woolford 

 

 

23.  23/00062/CND Freeland and Hanborough APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Discharge of conditions 4 (schedule of materials) and 5 (details of external windows and 

doors) of planning permission 22/01858/HHD 

34 Millwood End Long Hanborough Witney 

Alison and Kevin Corridan and Pritchett 

 

 

24.  23/00085/HHD Freeland and Hanborough APP 

  

Remove conservatory and replace single storey side and rear extension 

102 Wroslyn Road Freeland Witney 

Mr & Mrs Smith 

 

 

25.  23/00089/HHD Chipping Norton APP 

  

Alterations to include erection of first floor and two storey extensions along with a 

replacement single storey extension. Works to include increase of hard surface to the existing 

driveway. 

3 Cox Lane Chipping Norton Oxfordshire 

Mr Berwyn Jones 

 

 

Page 47



DELGAT 
 

26.  23/00105/HHD Chipping Norton APP 

  

Erection of a single storey rear extension and alterations to existing single storey link roof 

including the insertion of a rooflight. 

31 Cotswold Crescent Chipping Norton Oxfordshire 

Mr Ashley Scearce 

 

 

27.  23/00114/FUL Charlbury and Finstock APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Conversion of garage creating seating area in connection with neighbouring café/coffee shop 

Alder House Market Street Charlbury 

Chloe Horner 

 

 

28.  23/00124/HHD Freeland and Hanborough APP 

  

Proposed Garage/Store in the rear garden 

Chalfont 3 Wroslyn Road Freeland 

Mr Frank Creese 

 

 

29.  23/00142/CND Stonesfield and Tackley APP 

  

Discharge of conditions 6 (details of access between the land and highway), 9 (details of bat 

roosting and nesting opportunities), 10 (lighting design strategy for biodiversity) and 11 

(comprehensive landscape scheme) of planning permission 21/01594/S73 

Middlefield House Lower Whitehill Tackley 

Mr and Mrs Geday 

 

 

30.  23/00148/HHD Woodstock and Bladon APP 

  

Erection of a single storey rear extension. Insertion of a small window added to front 

elevation 

37 Heath Lane Bladon Woodstock 

Mr Ciaran Murphy 

 

 

31.  23/00166/HHD The Bartons APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of an oak orangery to replace existing conservatory 

Walnut Cottage Sandford St Martin Road Westcote Barton 

Mr Benbow 

 

 

Page 48



DELGAT 
 

32.  23/00167/LBC The Bartons APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

External alterations to erect an oak orangery to replace existing conservatory (amended 

description) 

Walnut Cottage Sandford St Martin Road Westcote Barton 

Mr Benbow 

 

 

33.  23/00168/HHD Hailey, Minster Lovell and 

Leafield 

APP 

  

Replace existing conservatory with new single storey rear extension. 

Ivy House The Ridings Leafield 

Mr Anthony Alexander 

 

 

34.  23/00170/HHD Woodstock and Bladon APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of single, first floor and two storey rear and side extensions 

28 Grove Road Bladon Woodstock 

Mrs Victoria Spires 

 

 

35.  23/00171/HHD Woodstock and Bladon APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Erection of single storey side and rear extensions. Alterations to include replacement window 

to rear, new ground floor window to side elevation and replacement of timber cladding to 

rear elevation with render 

21 Park Close Bladon Woodstock 

Ms Helen Renfrew 

 

 

36.  23/00183/HHD Kingham, Rollright and 

Enstone 

APP 

  

Single storey rear porch, proposed double garage 

Parsonage Farmhouse Salford Chipping Norton 

Mr and Mrs Oliver Colston 

 

 

37.  23/00196/HHD Chadlington and Churchill APP 

 Affecting a Conservation Area 

 

Demolition of side conservatory and rear extension. Construction of single storey rear 

extension 

Repton House Hastings Hill Churchill 

Mr J Wickham 

 

 

Page 49



DELGAT 
 

38.  23/00305/PDET28 Brize Norton and Shilton P2NRQ 

  

Creation of a new track to alleviate compaction and erosion problems caused by livestock 

and machinery movements, together with assisting to reduce surface water run off within this 

location of the Farm. 

Paynes Farmhouse Swinbrook Burford 

Swinbrook Farms 

 

 

39.  23/00452/CND Woodstock and Bladon APP 

  

Discharge of condition 2 (roof sample) of Listed Building Consent 22/02804/LBC 

Woodstock Lodge Blenheim Park Woodstock 

Ms Kelly Whitton 

 

 

40.  23/00481/CND Woodstock and Bladon APP 

  

Discharge of condition 3 (roof sample) of planning permission 22/02803/FUL 

Blenheim Palace Blenheim Park Woodstock 

Ms Kelly Whitton 

 

 

 

Page 50



Appeal decisions 

APP/D3125/D/22/3308195 

High Ridge, 46 High Street, Milton Under Wychwood, OX7 6LE 

Renovation of existing garden building. 

The appeal is dismissed. 

 

 

APP/D3125/W/22/3302591 

Tiverton Cottage/Vicks Garage, Guildenford, Burford OX18 4SE 

The development proposed is demolition of the existing garage building and the erection of a 

detached dwelling with access, parking and associated works. 

 

The appeal is dismissed. 

 

 

APP/D3125/C/21/3274091 

Land west of 66 Over Norton Road, Chipping Norton, OX7 5PH 

 

Appeal A 

The breach of planning control as alleged in the notice is: (1) Without planning permission a material 

change of use of the land from agriculture to a siting of caravans for residential use; and (2) 

Operational development consisting of the laying of hardstanding, construction of an access track, 

works for the installation of services and associated engineering works 

The appeal is dismissed, and the enforcement notice is upheld. 

Appeal B 

The development proposed is Change of use of land to use as a residential caravan site for 4 

gypsy/traveller families, including the laying of hard standing, construction of access driveway and 

associated earthworks. 

Appeal B should succeed and planning permission is granted subject to conditions 

 

 

 

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	4 Applications for Development
	5 Applications Determined under Delegated Powers and Appeal Decisions
	Appeal decisions 3.4.23


